1960

The Continental Bank and Trust Co. v. Charles Cunningham and Winford Bunce : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-respondent commenced an action in the District Court to obtain a judgment against the defendants-appellants on a Promissory Note executed by the defendants in favor of the plaintiff.

Defendants, by their answer, admitted the execution of the Note and a mortgage to secure payment of same,

liability for the unpaid balance of said note and as an affirmative defense alleged that a tender of full payment had been made on January 31, 1958 to the plaintiff and denied plaintiff's right to recover for attorney's fees, court costs and interest incurred after January 31, 1958.

Defendants filed a counterclaim against plaintiff alleging the execution and delivery of the Note and Mortgage to the plaintiff, tender after maturity to the plaintiff of the full unpaid balance of said note, plaintiff's refusal to accept said tender and release the mortgage, that said refusal was because of a conspiracy with one Hal Hancock to deprive defendants of their equity in the mortgaged premises, and that said refusal to accept payment and release the mortgage prevented the defendants from redeeming the mortgaged property from a sheriff's sale on a first mortgage foreclosure and caused the defendants to be damaged by the loss of their equity in the mortgaged property.

Plaintiff's reply admitted the execution of an assignment of said note and mortgage to the said Hal Hancock and denied that said assignment was part of a conspiracy to enable Hancock to deprive the defendants of their equity in the mortgaged premises and denies that a tender of the amount due was made by the defendants to the plaintiff on January 31, 1958.

Depositions of R. M. Worsley, agent for plaintiff corporation, and defendants were taken. Requests for Admission and Answers thereto and the Affidavit of R. M. Worsley were filed and constitute part of the Record on

Appeal. A Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by plaintiff on August 6, 1959 and a Hearing on said Motion was held in the District Court on August 19, 1959. Counsel argued the Motion however there was no testimony or evidence introduced. After hearing the arguments of counsel and defense having stated that the counterclaim contained the facts which constituted defendants' claim the Court granted plaintiff's motion and dismissed defendants' counterclaim. From that judgment of dismissal the defendants have brought this appeal.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THAT THE RECORD BEFORE THE COURT SHOWS A MATERIAL ISSUE BETWEEN THE APPELLANTS AND RESPONDENT AND THAT THE ALLEGATIONS OF APPELLANTS COUNTER CLAIM, IF PROVED, WOULD ENTITLE APPELLANTS TO RECOVER FOR DAMAGES.

POINT II

THAT WHERE THERE IS ANY GENUINE ISSUE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACT, A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE DENIED.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THAT THE RECORD BEFORE THE COURT SHOWS A MATERIAL ISSUE BETWEEN THE

APPELLANTS AND RESPONDENT AND THAT THE ALLEGATIONS OF APPELLANTS COUNTER CLAIM, IF PROVED, WOULD ENTITLE APPELLANTS TO RECOVER FOR DAMAGES.

The record shows: (a) That on January 31, 1958 plaintiff was the owner and holder of the promissory note and mortgage of defendants. (Defendant's Counterclaim—paragraphs 5, 14, 15, 18 and 19; plaintiff's Amended Complaint — paragraphs 1 and 2 and copy of Note attached; Deposition of Robert M. Worsley—page 4, line 9; page 15, lines 13 through 30 and page 16, lines 1 through 12, lines 18 through 30; page 27, line 23 through page 28 and to page 29, line 5, page 30, line 13 through 25). Plaintiff denies that it was the owner and holder of the promissory note and mortgage on January 31, 1958. (See Affidavit of R. M. Worsley.)

(b) That the defendants offered and attempted to pay said note and obtain a release of the mortgage on January 31, 1958. (See Defendants Counterclaim, paragraph 18; Deposition of Robert M. Worsley—page 19, line 13 through 17; page 29, line 13 through 15; page 21, line 24 through 30.) Plaintiff denies defendants' tender. (See Plaintiff's Reply, paragraph 18.)

(c) That plaintiff refused to allow defendants to pay the note and obtain a release of said mortgage. (Defendants' Counterclaim, paragraph 19; Deposition of Robert M. Worsley, page 16, line 18 through 30.)

(d) That plaintiff knew defendants would lose a substantial sum of money if they (defendants) were not allowed to redeem the property from the foreclosure sale

and that payment to plaintiff was prerequisite to the right to redeem from the foreclosure sale. (Defendants' Counterclaim, paragraphs 17 and 18; Deposition of Robert M. Worsley, page 21, line 34 through 30.) This is denied by plaintiff. (See Plaintiff's Reply, paragraph 18.)

(e) That the refusal of plaintiff to allow defendants to pay the note and obtain a release of said mortgage caused damages to the defendants. (Defendants' Counterclaim, paragraph 20; Deposition of Winford Bunce, page 43, line 11 through 23.)

From the foregoing it is apparent that the Record shows a material issue to exist between plaintiff and defendants.

That defendants would be entitled to recover for damages if the allegations of the Counterclaim were proved the Court's attention is directed to Title 57-3-8 U.C.A. 1953 which read as follows:

"If the mortgagee fails to discharge or release any mortgage after the same has been fully satisfied, he shall be liable to the mortgagor for double the damages resulting from such failure. Or the mortgagor may bring an action against the mortgagee to compel the discharge or release of the mortgage after the same has been satisfied; and the judgment of the court must be that the mortgagee discharge or release the mortgage and pay the mortgagor the costs of suit, and all damages resulting from such failure."

In *Swaner v. Union Mortgage Co.*, a Utah case, 105 P2d342, the Court stated:

“The holder of a mortgage renders himself liable to statutory penalty for refusing to release mortgage upon sufficient tender, although holder claims that tender is insufficient.”

Also see *Nalder v. Kellogg*, 4 U2d 117, 288 P2d 456; *Shibata v. Bear River State Bank* (Utah case) 205 P2d 251.

Corpus Juris Secundum on Mortgages, commencing at page 745 states:

“Damages are recoverable for a wrongful refusal to release or satisfy a mortgage after payment; and in many jurisdictions a remedy is provided by statutory provision which, being generally regarded as penal, are strictly construed.

“While it has been said that there is no right of action at common law for damages for failure to satisfy a mortgage, independently of statute a right of action exists for damages for refusal, after payment, to reconvey property deeded as security or to release or discharge a mortgage. * * *

Page 746: A right of action exists when the debt secured has been paid in full or tendered or all other legal conditions have been fulfilled, and plaintiff is entitled to the release or satisfaction demanded and refused.

“In order to make out a right of action, it is necessary to show that plaintiff is entitled to the release or satisfaction demanded and that the debt secured by the mortgage has been paid in full, or that the whole amount justly due has been tendered, including any fees and costs accrued and the statutory allowance, * * *

Page 749: The complaint or petition should state all the facts necessary to establish plaintiff's

right to recovery. It should show plaintiff's title to maintain the action, and should describe the mortgage and show the relation of the parties to be that of mortgagor and mortgagee, and should aver distinctly the payment of the debt secured or other full performance of the conditions of the mortgage, and the demand for entry of satisfaction and refusal thereof, and that the expenses of filing and recording such release were paid or tendered to the holder of the mortgage. * * *

Defendants alleged in their counterclaim that plaintiff, on January 8, 1958, entered into a fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy and agreement with one Hal Hancock and executed a purported assignment of said promissory note and mortgage (par. 14); that no delivery of the note was made and that there was no consideration to support said assignment (par. 15) and that said purported assignment was made to enable the said Hancock to attempt to redeem the mortgaged property in his (Hancock's) name and deprive the defendants of their equity in said property (par. 16).

The Affidavit of Robert M. Worsley, filed by the plaintiff states:

AFFIDAVIT

"Robert M. Worsley being first duly sworn deposes and says:

1. That he is an employee of the Continental Bank & Trust Company, plaintiff herein, and is personally familiar with the transactions which are the subject of this action.

2. That on February 3, 1956, defendants executed and delivered to plaintiff a promissory note, a copy of which is attached to plaintiff's complaint.

3. That on June 10, 1957, defendants executed a mortgage to secure said promissory note, which note was then in default, and said mortgage was delivered to affiant.

4. That on April 30, 1957, First Security Bank commenced an action to foreclose the mortgage on the same property, which mortgage was prior to the mortgage of Continental, and on July 8, 1957, property securing said mortgage was sold at foreclosure sale by the sheriff of Grand County, and was purchased by First Security Bank, subject to the right to redeem within six months from that date.

5. That on January 8, 1958, the last day for redemption of the property as provided by law, Continental was approached by one Hal Hancock and did assign its interest in the promissory note and mortgage which it held on said property under the terms and conditions reflected in the assignment and letter executed by Hancock and Continental, copies of which are attached to this affidavit and incorporated herein by reference.

6. That on January 31, 1958, the assignment to Hancock was still in effect.

7. That said mortgage and promissory note were not reassigned to Continental by Hancock until about September 2, 1958.

Dated this 6th day of August, 1959.

S/ROBERT M. WORSLEY

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 6th day of August, 1959.

S/RUTH ATKINSON

Notary Public

Residing at Salt Lake City, Utah

My commission expires: 9-1-59"

A copy of the Assignment is attached ^{to} ~~at~~ the Affidavit and is here set forth in full:

“ASSIGNMENT OF REAL ESTATE MORTGAGE

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, That the Continental Bank and Trust Company, a Utah state banking corporation with its principal place of business at Salt Lake City, Utah, the party of the first part, for and in consideration of the sum of Twenty One Hundred Thirty Three and 47/100*****Dollars (\$2133.47) to it in hand paid by Hal Hancock the party of the second part, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, does by these presents, grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer and set over unto the said party of the second part, a certain mortgage, bearing date of June 10th 1957, made and executed by Charles Cunningham & Wilford Bunce, Mortgagors, to the party of the first part, mortgagee, and recorded on June 10th 1957, in Book 7-K of Mortgages, at page 42-43, in the office of the county recorder of the County of Grand, State of Utah.

TOGETHER with the indebtedness and promissory note therein described, and the money due and to become thereon, with interest as provided in said note and mortgage.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said party of the first part has caused these presents to be executed by its officer thereunto lawfully authorized and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed this 8th day of January, 1958.

THE CONTINENTAL BANK AND TRUST
COMPANY

By S/ GLEN STEFFENSON,
Assistant Vice President

(Acknowledgment)

A copy of the Letter agreement referred to in the Affidavit is attached to the Affidavit and is here set forth in full:

The Continental Bank & Trust Company
P. O. Box 1770
Salt Lake City, Utah

I propose to redeem the following described property located at Moab, Grand County, Utah, upon which the Continental Bank & Trust Company owns a second mortgage. To wit:

Beginning at Northwest corner Blk 25 running thence South 131 feet; East 171 feet, North 131 feet; West 171 feet to beginning.

I will execute to the Continental Bank & Trust Company a note which shall be due and payable on or before the 20th day of January in the amount of \$2133.47. In return for said note, The Continental Bank will assign to me that certain mortgage dated on June 10, 1957, wherein Charles Cunningham and Winford Bunce appear as mortgagors and the Continental Bank & Trust Company appears as Mortgagee, which mortgage was recorded on June 10, 1957, Entry No. 282514, Book 7-K, pages 42-43, in the office of the County Recorder, Grand County, Utah. With this assignment of the real estate above referred to, I propose to redeem the property above described from the sheriff's sale held pursuant to the action brought by the First Security Bank, and in the event I am unable to redeem the property, then I will assign the real estate mortgage above referred back to the Continental Bank & Trust Company, and in exchange, it is my understanding that the Bank will return the promissory note executed on January 8, 1958 by me in favor of the Continental Bank in the amount of \$2133.47.

(S) Hal Hancock"

Appellants contend that respondent was the owner and holder of the note and mortgage on January 31, 1958, supported by the record as follows: (a) The retention at all times of the promissory note by the respondent. Robert M. Worsley testified commencing on page 4, line 6 (Deposition of Robert M. Worsley) as follows:

Q. Did you deliver this assignment and the promissory note and mortgage to Mr. Hancock at that time?

A. No. The mortgage was delivered to him with a photostat of the note. We retained the original note. We had a side written guarantee. I don't mean guarantee, but agreement covering that.

Q. Explain that to us, will you?

A. Yes, the original note was available when and if our other agreement was breached.

Q. What other agreement was that?

A. Well, it is contained in the agreement basically that if they were able to redeem the property—"

Title 44-1-31 U.C.A. 1953 provides

"An instrument is negotiated when it is transferred from one person to another in such manner as to constitute the transferee the holder thereof. If payable to bearer, it is negotiated by delivery; if payable to order, it is negotiated by the indorsement of the holder completed by delivery."

(b) The purported assignment of the Note and mortgage was totally lacking in consideration and by the terms of the side agreement (letter) executed by Hancock and the respondent said assignment, even if valid, was

ineffectual on January 31, 1958. The above referred to Letter (side written guarantee) provides that the consideration for the assignment was a conditional promise to pay \$2133.47 which condition was that Hancock would be able to redeem the property prior to January 20, 1958. There was no redemption of the property prior to January 20, 1958, and hence no obligation to pay Continental and therefor consideration to support the assignment was totally lacking.

By the terms of the Letter agreement between respondent and Hancock, assuming for the purpose of argument that the Assignment and Letter agreement were valid transactions, on January 31, 1958 Hancock didn't owe the respondent any money because there had been no redemption and was only obligated to return the unrecorded Assignment of Mortgage. Continental (respondent) held the original note and the only persons to whom it could look for payment were the appellants.

POINT II

THAT WHERE THERE IS ANY GENUINE ISSUE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACT, A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE DENIED.

In *Young v. Felorina*, 121 U. 646, 244 P. 2d 862 the court stated:

"If there is any genuine issue as to any material fact, the motion should be denied."

In *United States v. General Instrument Corp.* (1949, DC NJ) 87 F Supp 157, the court stated:

“that on motions for summary judgment, it is not for the court to resolve disputed questions which appear in issue but to determine whether a question of fact is present; however, the facts being determined, a court is not precluded from adjudicating the legal consequences to be drawn from undisputed facts.”

In *Morlan v. Durland Trust Co.* (1952) 127 Colo 5, 252 P2d 98 the court pointed out that:

“summary judgment is properly granted only where the facts are clear and undisputed, and quoted with approval from a federal district court decision (*Michel v. Meier* [1948, DC Pa] 8 FRD 464) that “in passing upon a motion for summary judgment, it is no part of the court’s function to decide issues of fact but solely to determine whether there is an issue of fact to be tried.”

Attention is directed to *King v. Rubinsky* (1951, Tex Civ App) 241 SW2d 220, where the court stated:

“On hearing the motion for summary judgment the court’s prerogative is to determine, if possible, whether there is a genuine controversy between the litigants. If it is clear there is none, then it is his duty to grant the motion. If the matter is reasonably doubtful the motion would be refused. The court should not decide the controverted issues in the case. These should be submitted to the court or jury upon trial of the case upon its merits. If this was not the rule a party could easily be deprived of his constitutional right to a trial by jury. * * * We find no fault with the rule and believe it is a just one for its intended purpose. However, we feel that proceedings under it should be had with a great deal of caution and in no event should a summary judgment be granted unless

it is made to appear with reasonable certainty that there is no genuine issue in the case. Otherwise it would become the means of depriving a litigant of valuable substantive rights."

Rule 56(c) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

The record discloses various substantial controverted issues between plaintiff and defendants and therefor the lower courts dismissal of defendant's Counterclaim on plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was error.

CONCLUSION

At the hearing on respondent's motion for summary judgment no evidence or testimony was presented, however arguments of counsel were heard. As there is no transcript nor findings of fact by the court it is difficult for appellant's counsel to know the basis for the court's dismissal of appellants' counterclaim. The Affidavit of Robert M. Worsley is controverted by the allegations of defendants' counterclaim, the Letter attached to and made a part of said Affidavit, and Mr. Worsley's deposition as pointed out above. The allegations of defendants' counterclaim were materially controverted by respondent's Reply, Mr. Worsley's deposition and Mr. Worsley's Affidavit.

Did the appellants owe the respondent a sum of money on January 31, 1958? Respondent says, No," and appellants say, "Yes."

Was respondent's assignment on January 8, 1958 valid and still in effect on January 31, 1958 or was it fictitious and entered into for the purpose of enabling one Hancock to redeem the mortgaged property in his own name and deprive the appellants of their equity in said property? Respondent states the Assignment was valid and still effective on January 31, 1958. Appellants contend the record shows the assignment not effective or in force on January 31, 1958, that it was executed without any consideration, that its execution had no effect whatever on the ownership of the Note and was executed for the purpose of enabling Hancock to redeem the property in his own name and deprive the appellants of their equity in the property.

Appellants believe substantial issues are shown by the record to exist and unless said issues can be presented to the court or jury appellants will be deprived of valuable substantive rights.

The trial court's judgment dismissing appellants' counterclaim should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.