1960

The Continental Bank and Trust Co. v. Charles Cunningham and Winford Bunce : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I

THE THEORY OF APPELLANTS IS AT VARIANCE WITH THEIR THEORY BELOW.

Appellants' counterclaim espoused the theory that they had been damaged by reason of a "fraudulent and corrupt" conspiracy between Continental and Hal Hancock. All the proceedings below were tuned to that theory, but now appellants assert an entirely different theory: tender of payment and violation by respondent of the penal, double-damages, slander of title provision, 57-3-8, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, raised by appellants for the first time on appeal (App. Brf. 5-7). The conspiracy theory lies mouldering.

A new theory may not be raised upon appeal, *Twenty-Second Corp. Etc. v. Oregon Short Line Railroad Co.*, 36 Utah 238, 103 Pac. 243 (1909); *In re Beason's Estate*, 49 Utah 24, 161 Pac. 678 (1916); *Evans v. Shand*, 74 Utah 451, 280 Pac. 239 (1929); *Fisher v. Bank of Spanish Fork*, 93 Utah 514, 74 P.2d 659 (1937); *Upton v. Heiselt*, 118 Utah 573, 223 P.2d 428 (1950). In the *Evans* case, this Court stated at 240 Pac.:

"The rule is well settled that on an appeal the parties are restricted to the theory on which the case was

prosecuted or defended in the court below. That is especially true as to the theory accorded a pleading in the court below which on appeal must be adhered to and cannot be shifted. * * * Whatever liberality may be accorded procedure, there nevertheless are certain fundamental principles which cannot be disregarded. These, among others, are that pleadings are the judicial means to invest the court with subject-matter jurisdiction and to limit issues and to narrow proofs; that courts cannot make a complaint for one thing stand for a different thing; that recovery must be *secundum allegata et probata*, which is but a necessary deduction from the maxim that what is not judicially presented cannot be judicially decided; that the statement of the cause of action or ground of defense as laid binds the court as well as the parties; and that there must be no departure is but another statement of the maxim that it is vain to prove what is not alleged. These principles are primary. (Citations deleted.)

Appellants based their case upon the theory of conspiracy; they have no standing to urge upon this court a completely different theory now.

One mischief of appellants' maneuver is that it requires expansion of respondent's brief to demonstrate that, on the basis of the uncontroverted facts of record, 57-3-8 is not applicable. If premeditated, it would appear to have been designed to avoid an affirmative defense by respondent based upon the one-year statute of limitation applicable to a statute for a penalty, 78-12-29 Utah Code Annotated 1953, in that the alleged tender and refusal took place on January 31, 1958, and defendants' counterclaim was not served or filed until March 16, 1959 (R. 13).

II

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF A FRAUDULENT AND CORRUPT CONSPIRACY.

Appellants alleged a fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy. By definition, civil or criminal conspiracy requires a combination of two or more persons seeking to accomplish by concerted action some criminal or unlawful act, or to accomplish by criminal or unlawful means some act not in itself unlawful. The elements of civil conspiracy are: (1) a combination of two or more persons (one may plan or plot alone, but he cannot conspire alone); (2) an actual combination, agreement or confederation with a common design; (3) the existence of an unlawful purpose or act to be accomplished or done, or a lawful purpose to be accomplished by unlawful means; (4) wrongful intent; (5) damage. 11 *Am. Jur., Conspiracy* §§ 3-5, 45. Bunce's testimony points out the facts in which appellants suspect a conspiracy:

"Q. In other words, other than the execution—and I am just trying to find out what your story is here, Mr. Bunce—other than the execution of this assignment and the execution of the side agreement dated January 8, 1958, do you have any other facts upon which you base your allegation that Continental entered into a fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy?

"A. Not that I know of.

"Q. Pardon?

"A. I guess that is about all. They took that note and that is all I know about it.

'Q. In other words, whatever fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy there was would be represented by these

two documents? You don't know of any other facts other than those, do you?

"A. No.

"Q. Why do you feel that the execution of these documents was a fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy?

"A. Well, I think if it has been executed right, I think the bank would have got their money in the first place. And in the second place, I think if the bank had been right, they would have took our money when we came up here and delivered our mortgage back, as long as it was past due. Their contract with this other party was past due and I think the bank should have taken our money.

* * *

"Q. You have got a number of things recited in here. I wonder if any of them you contend Continental had anything to do with?

"A. All I contend is that Continental supposedly sold him an assignment on a mortgage. As far as Continental, I would hate to think that a bank or anybody would go far enough that they would go in with a guy like Hancock or Dickson to throw—conspire a crooked deal; I wouldn't quite say that much. But it looks kind of bad, but I wouldn't quite go that far." (B. 38-39, 42).

Cunningham said he had no facts other than those given by Bunce to support their claim of a fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy.

Those are the bare bones of the lawsuit, and in this case the skeleton is the whole animal. If appellants cannot make out a conspiracy from the documents of assignment and the agreement between Hancock and Continental, the appeal must fail.

The conduct of Continental as shown by these documents and the surrounding facts is completely consistent with sound and honest business practice. When it became apparent that appellants weren't meeting their schedule of payments on the unsecured loan, Continental sought some security. Appellants offered a mortgage on property already the subject of a mortgage foreclosure action burdened by a contract of sale. Although of dubious value, the mortgage was a "bird in the hand," however small a bird. On the final day for redemption Continental, which had decided (who would not say, "wisely") not to spend \$35,000 more to save \$2,000, was approached by a stranger (Hancock) who wished to acquire Continental's interest. Even if Hancock had been the agent of Dickson (which apparently he was not), appellants had obtained a decree eliminating Dickson's interest in the property, so there was no right-duty relationship between Dickson and appellants with respect to the property. Hancock's obligation was contingent upon other facts, it's true, but as Continental's security would turn into a pumpkin at midnight, there was nothing to lose by accepting Hancock's proposal.

In exchange for an assignment to him of the appellant's note and mortgage, Hancock gave Continental his note for the same amount, to be paid if he succeeded in redeeming the property; if he failed he could reassign the documents and get his note back. Certainly Hancock's note was good consideration for Continental's assignment.

Appellants suggest that there was something sinister about the transaction because appellants' note was retained by Continental. But the assignment expressly included both the note

and mortgage and it is well established that a note may be assigned by a separate instrument even where the note itself is not delivered.

This court in *Thatcher v. Merriam*, 121 Utah 191, 240 P.2d 266 (1952), quoted with approval the following language:

“Like an ordinary chose in action, a bill or note may be transferred by assignment or by mere delivery with the usual incidence of such a transfer, and this rule is not changed by the negotiable instrument law. * * * It may be formal or informal; * * * it may be by separate instrument, or in the absence of a statute to the contrary, by parole * * * .

“While it has been held where there is a note, bond, or other written obligation evidencing the debt, that there must be a delivery of the instrument, it is generally held that delivery is not necessary if the assignment is proved by other satisfactory evidence. Thus, where an assignment of a chose in action is made by a separate paper it will be valid, although the written evidence of the chose in action is not delivered.” (*Supra*, p. 270).

As the above case pointed out, appellants' citation of 44-1-37 UCA 1953 is inapplicable, as it deals with negotiation of a note (i.e., the formalities necessary to make the transferee a holder in due course) and does not deal with transfer of the chose which the note represents. See also *Johnson v. Beickey*, 64 Utah 43, 228 Pac. 189 (1924).

The transaction with Hancock is hardly evidence of conspiracy. As stated in *Holland v. Columbia Iron Mining Co.*, 4 Utah 2d 303, 293 P.2d 700 (1956).

"Inferences are made for the purpose of aiding reason, not to override it. Inferences are nothing more than the probable or rational explanations of facts. Common sense and reason dictate that evil influences should not be permitted to be drawn from routine business transactions where there are no other circumstances. To hold otherwise would throw the door open for an attack on each and every transaction that one might enter into." (*Supra*, P. 702).

Respondent is puzzled by the appellants' assertion that "there was no redemption of the property prior to January 20, 1958, and hence no obligation to pay Continental and therefore consideration to support the assignment was totally lacking." (App. Brf. p. 12). Appellants cite no authority for this amazing logic. Moreover, "the defense that an assignment was made without consideration is not one * * * which ordinarily may be raised by the debtor in an action by the assignee; in other words, in an action against the original debtor or obligor, the assignee may generally recover, even though there was no consideration for the transfer." 4 *Am. Jur. Assignments*, § 83. See also *Restatement of Contracts*, § 158, and *Thatcher v. Merriam, supra*, at 240 P.2d 270.

The documents show that Hancock's obligation under the agreement was either to pay off his note to Continental for \$2,133.47, or to reassign the note and mortgage. The first alternative was only effective if Hancock was successful in redeeming the property. He was not successful. Therefore he chose the second alternative. Since he assumed a legal burden which prevented him from redeeming without paying the note to Continental, there was adequate consideration for the assignment.

The undisputed facts are that when appellants purportedly made their tender to Continental on January 31, 1958, the assignment was still outstanding. As it is apparent from the face of the document that there is no condition subsequent by which the assignment became null and void after January 20, Continental could not release what it did not own — whether or not payment was tendered.

The issue is as simple as that. Characterizing a perfectly legal transaction as a “false and fraudulent conspiracy” without a scintilla of supporting evidence or even one case citation dealing with the question of conspiracy may possibly be understood as the hysterical reaction of disappointed entrepreneurs, but is hardly proper as an allegation in a court of law.

III

APPELLANTS HAVE NO CLAIM UNDER TITLE 57, CHAPTER 3, SECTION 8, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953.

Appellants’ theory relative to 57-3-8 UCA 1953, raised for the first time on appeal, is as unfounded as the “fraudulent and corrupt conspiracy” they pleaded.

In the first place, it is manifest that (taken in the context of Chapter 3 of Title 57, “Recording Conveyances” and noting that it immediately follows 57-3-6, “Discharge by certificate” and 57-3-7, “Discharge of liens by marginal entry”), 57-3-8 refers only to those damages which result from the slander of mortgagor’s title by virtue of a satisfied mortgage remaining of record. In this regard, see 1 *Glenn on Mortgages*, § 50.1 at page 321; *Nalder v. Kellogg Sales Co.*, 4 Utah 2d 117, 288

P.2d 456 (1955). Appellants allege no such damage. It is clear that First Security, which had actual notice both of Continental's mortgage and of assignment to Hancock, was far from concerned with the fact that the Continental mortgage was of record. It wanted out from under the threat of suit by Hancock.

Second, the mortgage was under assignment to Hancock at the time of the purported tender. Although such assignment was unrecorded, appellants had actual notice of it (B. 37). Under such circumstances, tender to the assignor does not result in the assignor's liability. It has been so held in cases decided under statutes like ours, *Harris v. Swanson*, 67 Ala. 486 (1880); *Lewis v. Cannon*, 22 Ala. App. 634, 118 So. 911 (1929); *Murphy v. Flemming*, 69 Mich. 185, 36 N.W. 787 (1888); *Brown v. Yarborough*, 130 Miss. 715, 94 So. 877 (1923); *Galloway v. Lichfield*, 8 Minn. 188 (1863).

Third, even if the court held that the assignment to Mr. Hancock were ineffectual, the facts support—and do not in any measure, by inference or otherwise, contradict—the good faith of Continental, acting under advice of its attorney, in believing the assignment to be in force on January 31, 1958. This court has had occasion to hold that a mortgagee, acting in good faith and under advice of counsel, is not liable under 57-3-8 for failure to discharge a mortgage, *Shibata v. Bear River State Bank*, 115 Utah 395, 205 P.2d 251 (1957). As stated at 2 *Jones on Mortgages* (7 Ed.) § 991:

“The mortgagee is not bound, upon tender of payment, to determine doubtful questions at his peril, and he is not generally held liable to the statutory penalty if his refusal is made in good faith and in the honest belief that he is not bound to accept tender.”

In support of the foregoing are *Harding v. Home Inv. & Sav. Co.*, 49 Idaho 64, 286 Pac. 920 (1930) reh. den., 49 Idaho 64, 297 Pac. 1101 (1930); *Continental Bank v. Kowalsky*, 247 Mich. 348, 225 N.W. 496 (1929); *Wiener v. Automobile Finance Co.*, 347 Pa. 217, 31 A.2d 898 (1943); *Mathiew v. Boston*, 51 S.D. 619, 216 N.W. 361, 56 A.L.R. 332 (1927).

Fourth, there is no evidence that appellants, after January 31, 1958, kept their tender good. This is a requirement for recovery under the statute, 1 *Glenn on Mortgages*, § 53.

Fifth, if Continental's assignment to Hancock was ineffective, its right of redemption expired as of January 8, 1958. Thus, on January 31, 1958, the relationship between appellants and Continental was simply that of debtors and creditor. Continental's mortgage was subject to the First Security action and had been foreclosed.¹ It is well settled that 57-3-8, being penal and strictly construed², applies only to the mortgagor-mortgagee relationship, *Draper v. J. B. & R. E. Walker, Inc.*, 115 Utah 368, 204 P.2d 826 (1949). As of January 31, 1958, Continental had neither mortgage nor (if appellants are correct) right of redemption.

Therefore, on at least five grounds, the new-found theory of appellants is inapplicable.

¹78-37-3, UCA 1953.

²*Shibata v. Bear River State Bank*, *supra*.

³See footnotes 2-6, 6 *Moore*, Par. 56.04(1) pp. 2029-30.

IV

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY AWARDED.

The main thrust of appellants' argument is that there are material issues between them and respondent which preclude the rendition of summary judgment. (App. Br. p 4-5). It should be borne in mind that respondent's motion was based *inter alia* upon the affidavit of Mr. Worsley and exhibits attached to it and that appellants took no steps at all to controvert any of the allegations in the affidavit. Appellants' discussion appears to be founded upon two untenable premises: (1) that summary judgment must be denied if there is any genuine issue of law even if there is no genuine issue of material fact; (2) that the allegations of their pleading cannot, on motion for summary judgment, be pierced by depositions, admissions and affidavits on file.

As to the first premise, Rule 56 does not contemplate that, if the ascertainment of material facts upon which there is no substantial controversy is practicable, the motion should be denied due to the existence of issues of law. According to 6 *Moore's Federal Practice*, par. 56.16 at pp. 2166-67, even

"The existence of an important, difficult, or complicated question of law, where there is no genuine issue of material fact, is not a bar to summary judgment. Resolution of the legal issues is for the court, and will not be rendered easier by going through the futile motions of a trial where there is no issue of fact to be tried." (Footnotes deleted.)

In *Fox v. Johnson and Wimsatt*, 127 F.2d 729 (D.C. Cir., 1952), the court stated at 127 F.2d 737:

“Conflict concerning the ultimate and decisive conclusions to be drawn from undisputed facts does not prevent rendition of a summary judgment, when that conclusion is one to be drawn by the court. The court had before it all the facts which formal trial would have produced. Going through the motions of trial would have been futile.”

That the second premise of appellants is also unsound is clear from a reading of Rule 56(c) which provides for the use of depositions, admissions and affidavits. In addition, Rule 12(c) provides for a judgment of the pleadings; if pleadings are to control. Rule 56 is surplusage. 3 *Barron and Holtzoff, Federal Practice and Procedure*, § 1231 at pp. 97-99, indicates:

“The summary judgment procedure is a method for promptly disposing of actions in which there is no genuine issue as to any material fact . . . It is intended to promote the expeditious disposition of cases, and avoid unnecessary trials where no genuine issues of fact are raised. *The procedure enables a party to pierce the allegations of fact in the pleadings and obtain relief by showing that there are no issues of fact to be tried.*” (Footnotes eliminated; emphasis supplied.)

6 *Moore*, par. 56.04 (1) at pp. 2029-30 is in accord:

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